FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
4/7/2021 12:07 PM
No. 99636-9

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/7/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

COA No. 54170-0-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. JASON DONALD STREIFF, Petitioner On Appeal from Lewis County Superior Court The Hon. James Lawler, Presiding PETITION FOR REVIEW

NEIL M. FOX, WSBA No. 15277 Attorney for Petitioner 2125 Western Ave. Suite 330 Seattle WA 98121

Phone: 206-728-5440 e-mail: nf@neilfoxlaw.com

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jason Donald Streiff, the appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the portion of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review set out in Part B, *infra*, that affirmed two convictions for child molestation in the third degree.

B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION</u>

Mr. Streiff seeks review of the decision in *State of Washington v. Jason Donald Streiff*, No. 54170-0-II, an unpublished opinion issued on March 9, 2021. A copy is attached in Appendix A.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Can kissing on the lips support a conviction for child molestation in the third degree?
- 2. Were Mr. Streiff's statements to a police officer admissible where the officer came into Mr. Streiff's home, failed to read him warnings required by *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966), touched his body without permission and refused to stop questioning upon Mr. Streiff's request?
- 3. Was there reversible prosecutorial misconduct both in closing argument and in the prosecutor's questioning of witnesses that assumed the guilt of Mr. Streiff?

- 4. Did the witnesses give improper conclusion and opinion testimony?
- 5. Instructions Nos. 5, 6 and 7 used pseudonyms and set out birth dates for the complainants. Did these instructions constitute an improper sealing and closure, constitute a comment on the evidence and lessen the burden of proof?
 - 6. Was Mr. Streiff denied effective assistance of counsel?
 - 7. Does cumulative error require a new trial?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 11-12, 2018, Mr. Streiff attended a birthday party for a friend of his in Winlock (in Lewis County). After consuming a lot of alcohol, Mr. Streiff went to sleep in a bedroom downstairs. Two cousins, 14-year old C.M.J. and 15-year old K.L.W., claimed that Mr. Streiff touched them sexually in the early morning hours after the party.

C.M.J. testified that she went to sleep on the floor of the same bedroom that Mr. Streiff was asleep in. She woke up and Mr. Streiff "started getting on top of me He started to kiss me" on her lips. RP 166-67, 183. She began to get up, but Mr. Streiff grabbed her hand and said to "come cuddle with him." RP 167. She pulled her hand way and left the room. She said she saw Mr. Streiff sitting on the floor, starting to unzip his pants. RP

167, 189. The whole incident lasted about 30 seconds. RP 183. C.M.J. then laid down on a futon in another room between two younger children. She tried to fall asleep, but she said Streiff again laid on top of her, "trying to find my lips to kiss me again but I had my head turned." RP 168. His whole body weight was not on her as he was "bracing himself." RP 188. He did not do anything with his hands, and she told him to get off and go away. After her brother made a noise, he left. RP 168-69, 188. C.M.J. also testified that Mr. Streiff touched her sexually later that same day at her own home in Castle Rock, in Cowlitz County, while her father was playing video games close by. RP 169-71.

K.L.W. testified that she was asleep that same morning in her own room in the basement. She claimed that Mr. Streiff came into her room, kissed her on the neck, put his hand under her shirt and touched her breast and also touched her vaginal area over her clothing. At one point, she told him to stop and he said "no, you like it." She pushed him away and got up; she walked out of the room and he followed her out and walked into the other bedroom. RP 277-78.

Lewis County Sheriff's Deputy Andrew Scrivner interrogated Mr. Streiff at his home on October 21, 2018. Deputy Scrivner did not read Mr. Streiff *Miranda* warnings, touched Streiff on his knees and shoulder without

permission, and did not cease interrogation when Mr. Streiff requested him to stop. Streiff denied molesting the girls, although he admitted he had a lot of alcohol that night and did not remember doing anything wrong. RP 339-65.

The State ultimately charged Mr. Streiff with three counts of third degree child molestation in Lewis County Superior Court, Counts I and III involving C.M.J. and Count II for K.L.W. CP 47-49. After a jury convicted Mr. Streiff of all three counts, CP 67-69, he was sentenced to 54 months in prison. CP 85-96. Mr. Streiff appealed.

On March 9, 2021, the Court of Appeals reversed the conviction for Count III based on improper venue – the count alleged conduct in Cowlitz County with C.M.J., but was improperly tried in Lewis County. Slip Op. at 4-10. The Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions for the other two counts. Mr. Streiff now petitions for review to this Court to review that portion of the Court of Appeals' decision that affirmed Counts I and II.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The Court Should Accept Review of the Sufficiency Issue for Count I

C.M.J. claimed that Mr. Streiff twice tried to get on top of her and kiss her on the lips. C.M.J. said that Mr. Streiff did not touch her on any

other part of her body, other than her hand, and (during the second of the two interactions) did not fully lay on top of her as he was "bracing himself." RP 188. This conduct is insufficient to sustain a conviction for child molestation in the third degree under the Due Process Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 3, of the Washington Constitution.

When reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, under the Due Process Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3, the test is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). This is a restrictive standard of review designed *to protect* people from being wrongfully convicted based upon a mere "modicum" of evidence and is a standard that requires the finder of fact to "to reach a subjective state of near certitude of the guilt of the accused." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315 & 320, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979).

RCW 9A.44.089, third degree child molestation, requires that the defendant have "sexual contact with another" person between the age of 14 and 16. RCW 9A.44.010(2) defines "sexual contact" as "any touching of the

sexual or other *intimate parts* of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either party or a third party." Emphasis added. This is an important limiting feature of the statute, distinguishing it from fourth degree assault with sexual motivation, RCW 9A.36.041 & RCW 9.94A.835, which would involve touching of parts of the body that were not sexual or intimate.

Regarding Count I, C.M.J. made no allegation that Mr. Streiff touched her sexual parts – *i.e.*, no touching of the genitals or breasts. The question, therefore, is whether there was touching of her "intimate" parts. Here, the "term 'intimate parts' has been interpreted to have a broader connotation than sexual parts and include 'parts of the body in close proximity to the primary erogenous areas . . .' including the hips, buttocks, and lower abdomen." *State v. Powell*, 62 Wn. App. 914, 917 n.3, 816 P.2d 86 (1991) (quoting *In re Adams*, 24 Wn. App. 517, 519-21, 601 P.2d 995 (1979)).

Kissing, even on the lips, without more does not qualify. For instance, in *State v. R.P.*, 122 Wn.2d 735, 862 P.2d 127 (1993), this Court reversed a conviction for indecent liberties, which used the same statutory definition of "sexual contact" as the current child molestation statute. The defendant in *R.P.* picked up a girl, held her against her will, hugged and kissed her, and sucked on her neck with his lips giving her a "hickey." *Id.* at

736; *id.* at 737 (Andersen, J., dissenting). This Court reversed the conviction and dismissed for insufficient evidence of sexual contact. *Id.* at 736. This conduct would be sufficient for a conviction for assault in the fourth degree with sexual motivation, however. *See State v. K.H.-H.*, 188 Wn. App. 413, 417-20, 353 P.3d 661 (2015), *aff'd* 185 Wn.2d 745, 374 P.3d 1141 (2016).

The Court of Appeals distinguished R.P.: "But the court did not explain whether it reversed because it determined that the acts were not sexual or because it determined that the neck was not an intimate part of the body." Slip Op. at 12. This is incorrect. A review of the dissenting opinion of Justice Andersen in R.P. and the Court of Appeals' decision, State v. R.P., 67 Wn. App. 663, 838 P.2d 701 (1992), aff'd in part and rev'd in part, 122 Wn.2d 735, 862 P.2d 127 (1993), makes it clear that R.P. had a sexual motivation and the only issue was whether kissing alone could be sexual contact. As the Court of Appeals explained, the incident with the kissing was the second sexual assault on the same victim within a few days. R.P. had previously restrained and kissed the victim, reaching up her shirt and touching her breasts, touching her buttocks and then attempting to touch the frontal part of her groin area. R.P., 67 Wn. App. at 665. The issue on appeal was not whether the second incident had a sexual motivation, but whether there was contact with the sexual or intimate areas of the victim. *Id.* at 66768. While the Court of Appeals in *R.P.* held that kissing on the lips was on the victim's intimate body parts, this Court disagreed with this holding, despite the prior incident. *See also R.P.*, 122 Wn.2d at 737 (Andersen, C.J., dissenting) (the kissing in this case was on a sufficiently intimate area to constitute sexual contact).

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case directly conflicts with this Court's decision in *State v. R.P.*, *supra*. Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Due to the violation of the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3, by a conviction for child molestation without sufficient evidence, review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

2. The Court Should Accept Review of the Custodial Interrogation Issue

Deputy Scrivner came into Mr. Streiff's home and interrogated him about the C.M.J.'s and K.L.W.'s allegations, but never read him *Miranda* warnings. During the course of his interrogation, Deputy Scrivener touched Mr. Streiff without permission on his shoulder and knees. *See* CP 82-83 (FF 1.3 & FF 1.5). Scrivner persistently kept asking Streiff whether he had inappropriate contact with the girls "a significant amount of times, multiple times, rephrasing it in a different way." RP 346. About halfway through the interview, Streiff asked Scrivner to stop asking him questions about whether

he touched "the little girl inappropriately." Scrivner did not respect Streiff's request and "continued to question" him about the incident but changed the words he was using. When Mr. Streiff asked the deputy to leave, the deputy continued to interrogate Streiff and did not leave for another minute or two. RP 133-34.

Mr. Streiff objected to the admission of his statements to Deputy Scrivner below, and argued on appeal that the statements should have been excluded. The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Streiff's arguments and upheld the admission of the statements. Slip Op. at 14-18. Mr. Streiff seeks review of this portion of the decision based on RAP 13.4(b)(3).

The Fifth Amendment's (incorporated into the Fourteenth Amendment) and article I, section 9's protection of the right against self-incrimination require the exclusion of statements elicited in a custodial interrogation unless the suspect was first issued warnings pursuant to *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. at 444-45. Undue coercion by the police can render statements involuntary in violation of due process of law. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3; *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 287-89, 111 S. Ct. 1246, 113 L. Ed. 2d 302 (1991) (plurality).

Miranda safeguards are required when a suspect is (1) "in custody" and (2) subject to "interrogation" by the government. Id. at 444. A suspect

is in custody when "there is a 'formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement' of the degree associated with a formal arrest." *California v. Beheler*, 463 U.S. 1121, 1125, 103 S. Ct. 3517, 77 L. Ed. 2d 1275 (1983) (quoting *Oregon v. Mathiason*, 429 U.S. 492, 495, 97 S. Ct. 711, 50 L. Ed. 2d 714 (1977) (per curiam)).

When a suspect has not formally been taken into police custody, a suspect is nevertheless considered "in custody" if the suspect has been "deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way." *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 444. To determine whether the suspect was in custody, courts must first examine the totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation. *See Thompson v. Keohane*, 516 U.S. 99, 112, 116 S. Ct. 457, 133 L. Ed. 2d 383 (1995). "An objective test is used to determine whether a defendant was in custody – whether a reasonable person in the individual's position would believe he or she was in police custody to a degree associated with formal arrest." *State v. Lorenz*, 152 Wn.2d 22, 36-37, 93 P.3d 133 (2004).

Here, the Court of Appeals concluded that Mr. Streiff was not in custody when questioned by Deputy Scrivner. According to the Court of Appeals, Mr. Streiff was able to terminate the interview, Slip Op. at 18, and the court concluded that evidence supported the trial court's findings that Deputy Scrivner's unpermitted touchings of Mr. Streiff were done in a

"friendly manner" that were "intended to make Streiff feel comfortable disclosing information, not contact intended to restrain Streiff's movement. The testimony did not show that Scrivner's touching was aggressive or restrictive, so the trial court appropriately concluded that it was 'not a threat of force." Slip Op. at 17.

Yet, the right against self-incrimination and the right to due process are violated when an armed police officer comes into someone's home and questions them, without *Miranda* warnings, while touching them without their consent. While Deputy Scrivner may have felt that the non-consensual touching of Mr. Streiff's shoulder and knees was a "friendly" gesture meant to build rapport, his touching of Mr. Streiff in fairly intimate areas (shoulder and leg) was no more "friendly" than other instances where people in power and authority touch their subordinates' bodies without their permission, and thus the trial court's conclusions are insensitive to modern concepts of bodily integrity. The unwanted touchings here are similar to the proverbial "fist in a velvet glove." *NLRB v. Exchange Parts Co.*, 375 U.S. 405, 409, 84 S. Ct. 457, 11 L. Ed. 2d 435 (1964).

In a Fourth Amendment context, one of the hallmarks of a coercive detention is "some physical touching of the person of the citizen." *State v. Harrington*, 167 Wn.2d 656, 664, 222 P.3d 92 (2009) (quoting *United States*

v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554-55, 100 S. Ct. 1870, 64 L. Ed. 2d 497 (1980) (plurality portion)). The same concepts apply here – when Deputy Scrivner laid his hands on Mr. Streiff, no reasonable person would think that the unwanted touchings were done as part of a "parental" comforting gesture.

Once an officer touches someone without their permission during a structured interrogation, any reasonable person would no longer think they were not in custody and that they could get up and simply leave. Indeed, the fact that the officer was inside Streiff's own home, without a warrant, would mean to any normal person that there was no longer a safe place to retreat to – there was no place to "leave" since Mr. Streiff's most private place was now occupied by a police officer who not only was interrogating him but was physically touching him. *See United States v. Craighead*, 539 F.3d 1073, 1082-83 (9th Cir. 2008) (noting coercive aspects of interrogation in someone's home).

The interrogation of Mr. Streiff was in fact "custodial" and thus the deputy should have read *Miranda* warnings and the resultant statements were not voluntary. The admission of Mr. Streiff's custodial statements violated due process of law and the right against self-incrimination under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, sections 3 and 9. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

3. Prosecutorial Misconduct Requires a New Trial

At trial, the prosecutor continuously asked questions of the witnesses that assumed that Mr. Streiff was guilty.¹ In this way, the prosecutor essentially vouched for the credibility of the witnesses, invading the province of the jury and violating due process and the right to a fair jury trial. U.S. Const. amend. VI & XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 21 and 22.² Then, in closing argument, the prosecutor asked the jurors to hold Mr. Streiff "accountable and mocked his name.³ The State also misstated its burden of proof by

These girls endured and their families endured with them through this process and not so for Jason Streiff to endure, not strife for Jason Streiff to face his actions. It's time for him to be held accountable for his actions. So at the conclusion of this trial, I am asking you to find him guilty of all counts.

RP 410 (emphasis added).

See RP 213 (prosecutor asked witness twice about whether prior to October 19, she knew that "Jason also assaulted [K.L.W.]?"); RP 237 (same question to another witness); RP 258 (question to witness about C.M.J. telling her "what happened"); RP 283-84 (questions to K.LW. about finding out about that C.M.J. was "also assaulted."); RP 317 (prosecutor asks about whether behavior changed "after the assault" or "since the assault"); RP 328 (prosecutor's questions to witness about what "Jason had done to [K.L.W.]" or what "had happened to [C.M.J.]"); RP 338-39 (prosecutor asked Deputy Scrivner if he had received "a report regarding a child molestation," and after he said he did, the prosecutor asked if he remembered "who reported that assault?").

See State v. Calvin, 176 Wn. App. 1, 19, 316 P.3d 496 (2013) ("A prosecutor may not express his personal opinion of the credibility of witnesses or the guilt or innocence of the accused."); State v. Cook, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, __ P.3d ___ (No. 37274-0-III, 4/6/21), Slip Op. at 11-12 (reversal where prosecutor used witnesses to vouch for the credibility of accusers).

The State argued:

arguing the improperly analogy to the "scales of justice." These arguments also violated due process of law and the right to a fair jury trial. U.S. Const. amends. VI & XIV; Const. art. I, § 3, 21 and 22.

Here, the Court of Appeals held that even if there was misconduct, it was not so prejudicial so as to require reversal, particularly as there were not complete objections below. Slip Op. at 21-25. The court concluded, "Both victims gave clear and unwavering testimony regarding Streiff's conduct after the party. They both reported the incidents soon after they occurred, and their descriptions were of similar conduct." Slip Op. at 22. The court further concluded that the prosecutor's remarks to the jury were brief and could have

There's scales of justice. As you heard, there's a balance. And in this case I want you to put all the witnesses that came here and all the evidence that has been introduced and have been nine witnesses that testified and tenth person is the defendant himself who's also apologizing and willing to turn himself in and that balance falls for justice. So I am asking you to find him guilty....

RP 444.

In rebuttal, the prosecutor argued:

It is the role of the jury to hold the *State* accountable. See *Alleyne v. United States*, 570 U.S. 99, 114, 133 S. Ct. 2151, 186 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2013). Asking the jury to hold the defendant "accountable" is misconduct. *See State v. Neal*, 361 N.J. Super. 522, 826 A.2d 723, 734 (N.J. Sup. Ct. App. Div. 2003); *State v. Begin*, 2015 ME 86, 120 A.3d 97, 103 (2015). The argument that the weight of the evidence tipped the scales "for justice" – i.e. for conviction – misstated the burden of proof, since it suggested that conviction would result from one iota more of evidence on the State's side of the scales. *See State v. Lindsey*, 180 Wn.2d 423, 434, 326 P.3d 125 (2014) ("Arguments by the prosecution that shift or misstate the State's burden to prove the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt constitute misconduct.")

been cured with an instruction had there been an objection. Slip Op. at 22-24.

Apart from the fact that this conclusion is just incorrect – C.M.J. did not make her allegations against Mr. Streiff until October 19, 2018, RP 172-74 – there was clear prejudice to Mr. Streiff, who contested the State's witnesses at every turn, pointing out the inconsistencies in their testimony, and, on some levels, the absurdity of the some aspects of their testimony – that Mr. Streiff, for instance, would molest a teenager in front of her father without her father seeing or doing anything. The State also failed to provide any type of motive for why Mr. Streiff, who lacked any prior criminal history or proclivity to molest children, would suddenly, one day, molest the daughters of his longtime friends. While there were general instructions given to the jury on the burden of proof and the importance of deciding the case based on the evidence, rather than sympathy or prejudice, Slip Op. at 23, the same is true in just about any case tried in Washington State.

Moreover, multiple instances of misconduct may result in an unfair trial, in violation of state and federal due process, requiring reversal even if each improper comment in isolation would not. "[T]he cumulative effect of repetitive prosecutorial misconduct may be so flagrant that no instruction or series of instructions could erase their combined prejudicial effect." *State v*.

Cook, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, __ P.3d ___ (No. 37274-0-III, 4/6/21), Slip Op. at 11. The Court of Appeals here failed to analyze the misconduct cumulatively.

Accordingly, because prosecutorial misconduct denied Mr. Streiff a fair jury trial and due process in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, sections 3, 21 and 22, the Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and reverse.

4. Mr. Streiff Was Unconstitutionally Convicted Based Upon Opinion and Conclusion Evidence

In addition to the prosecutor's leading questions that assumed the truth of the allegations, Deputy Scrivner gave answers in his testimony that assumed that Mr. Streiff was guilty. Deputy Scrivner testified that he met with C.M.J. and "I found out that she was at a birthday party in the early time of August – around August 11th and 12th and at this birthday party she was sexually assaulted by a gentleman named Jason Streiff." RP 339-40 (emphasis added). He then he explained he contacted K.L.W. because "[d]uring my interview with [C.M.J.] I found out that her cousin was also sexually assaulted at the same event." RP 340 (emphasis added). Scrivner also said that K.L.W. also had difficulties telling him what happened, but she

said that "in the early morning she was awoke by Mr. Streiff who sexually assaulted her." RP 342.

Deputy Scrivner also testified about the interrogation with Mr. Streiff, noting that Mr. Streiff's body movements were "defensive" during the interrogation. RP 344. He noted how after Streiff did not want to talk about what he could not remember, but that Streiff ought "to tell me the truth or if he continued down this path to not tell the truth that it's going to be difficult for them ever to forgive him." RP 347 (emphasis added).

These answers constituted improper opinion and conclusion evidence that violated due process and the right to a jury trial, protected by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, sections 3, 21 and 22. *See State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). Even if there were not preserved objections below, the issues are constitutional and can be raised for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a)(3). *See State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 927, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, concluding that the testimony did not involve opinion testimony at all. Slip Op. at 19-20.

This conclusion is wrong. While it is correct that Deputy Scrivner responded to questions about what he "found out" or that he was explaining the course of his interrogation with Mr. Streiff, Deputy Scrivner's answers

clearly contained improper opinions and conclusions. Although some leeway is to be expected during a trial, a police officer cannot constitutionally testify "I found out that she was at a birthday party in the early time of August – around August 11th and 12th and at this birthday party she was sexually assaulted by a gentleman named Jason Streiff," RP 339-40 (emphasis added), nor can a police officer testify that he told the defendant, who denied committing a crime, that he was not telling the "truth." RP 347. See State v. Cook, supra (reversal where witnesses and prosecutor gave conclusions about whether others were telling the truth).

Mr. Streiff's rights to due process and a jury trial, protected by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, sections 3, 21 and 22, were violated. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and reverse.

5. By Using Pseudonyms and Birth Dates, Instructions 5, 6 and 7 Violated Multiple Constitutional Rights

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