FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/7/2021 3:12 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99636-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 54170-0-II)

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

JASON DONALD STREIFF,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division One, And the Superior Court of Lewis County

> JONATHAN MEYER Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 35564

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office Office ID 91182 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

B. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES:

- 1. The petition for review claims that seven issues all merit review under the "significant question of law under the Constitution" prong of RAP 13.4(b)(3). Should review be denied as the defendant has "thrown the chaff in with the wheat" and failed to winnow out weaker arguments, treating this Court as an error correcting body rather than a final arbiter of legal questions?¹
- 2. The petition for review claims the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with this Court's opinions in State v. R.P., 122 Wn.2d 735, 862 P.2d 127 (1993), John Doe G. v. Dep't of Corr., 190 Wn.2d 185, 140 P.3d 1156 (2018), Allied Daily Newspapers v. Eikenberry, 121 Wn.2d 205, 848 P.2d 1258 (1993), and State v. Jackman, 156 Wn.2d 736, 132 P.3d 136 (2006). Should review be denied as no such conflict exists?

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Family and friends gathered in Winlock, Washington, for a barbeque to celebrate Mat's² birthday on August 11, 2018. RP 202-03, 227, 311. In attendance was Jason Streiff, Mat's best friend and

¹ In re Pers. Restraint of Lord, 123 Wn.2d 296, 302-03, 868 P.2d 835 (1994).

² The State will refer to all family members (other than the victims) by their first names to protect the identity of the victims, no disrespect intended.

a good friend of Mat's brother, Brandon. RP 202-03, 227, 325. Mat's girlfriend's 15-year-old daughter, K.L.W., was at the party, as was Brandon's 14-year-old daughter, C.M.J. RP 203, 265-67.

The birthday party went into the early morning hours of August 12. RP 326. The adults were consuming alcohol and Streiff stayed the night. *Id.* C.M.J. fell asleep and awoke to Streiff getting on top of her. RP 166. Streiff was kissing C.M.J. on her lips. RP 167. C.M.J. started to get up, but Streiff grabbed her hand. *Id.* Streiff told C.M.J. "[t]o come cuddle with him." *Id.* C.M.J. said "no," and pulled her hand away. *Id.* Streiff started to unzip his pants and C.M.J. ran to where other kids were sleeping on a futon. *Id.* C.M.J. managed to start to fall back asleep, but was reawakened to Streiff lying on top of her. RP 168. Streiff was trying to kiss C.M.J. again, but was unsuccessful, and left when another child made a noise. RP 168-69.

K.L.W. woke to her alarm at 6:00 a.m., but continued to lie in bed. RP 267-77. K.L.W.'s bedroom door opened, somebody got into bed with her, put their arm over her, and kissed K.L.W. on the neck, by her ear. RP 277. K.L.W. turned over and discovered Streiff in her bed. RP 277. Streiff then put his hand under K.L.W.'s shirt and touched her breast. RP 277. According to K.L.W., "I told him to stop. He said, 'No. You like it.' And I said, 'No, I don't. Stop.' and then he

proceeded to take his hand and push it downwards down my body down to my lower private part. Over my clothes he did touch that but not under." *Id.* Streiff's hand was touching K.L.W.'s vaginal area, rubbing it a little bit. RP 278. K.L.W. pushed Streiff off her and left the room. RP 278.

C.M.J. also alleged that later on the 12th, in Castle Rock, Streiff came over to her home, sat on a loveseat with her, and touched her vaginal area or grabbed her breasts over her clothes. RP 169-71, 209, 232-33. This incident occurred while C.M.J.'s dad was present. *Id.*

The girls disclosed at a later date what had occurred. RP 172-73. Law enforcement contacted Streiff. RP 121-24. Streiff agreed to meet with the deputy and they arranged a time to speak in person at Streiff's residence. *Id.* Streiff told the deputy he could not remember anything due to his heavy alcohol consumption the night of Mat's party. RP 125-26. Streiff denied he would inappropriately touch children. RP 356.

Ultimately, Streiff was charged with three counts of Child Molestation in the Third Degree. CP 47-49. The jury convicted Streiff as charged. CP 67-69. Streiff timely appealed.

The Court of Appeals reversed Count III, Streiff's conviction for Child Molestation that occurred in Cowlitz County, based upon improper venue. *State v. Streiff*, No. 54170-0-II, Slip Op. at 4-10 (Wash. Crt. App. March 9, 2021)(unpublished). ³ Division Two rejected Streiff's other arguments and affirmed Counts I and II. *See Streiff*, No. 54170-0-II. The State will supplement the facts below.

D. <u>ARGUMENT.</u>

The Court of Appeals analysis regarding the use of initials and dates of birth in the to-convict instructions was correct and did not conflict with other decisions rendered by this Court. Similarly the Court of Appeals applied the correct legal analysis for determining the sufficiency of evidence claim regarding sexual contact. The opinion did not conflict with a decision from this Court. Therefore, the holdings do not meet the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(1). Streiff's assertion that all other issues raised are of significant question of law under the Constitution is simply false. The Court of Appeals properly disposed of all other issues raised by Streiff in the direct review below

³ The unpublished opinion is citied as it is the underlying case, but may also be cited pursuant to GR 14.1(a).

and none of his asserted issues meets the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(3).4

 None Of The Numerous Issues Raised By Streiff Are Significant Questions Of Law Under The Constitution That Warrant Review By This Court.

Streiff presents seven (7) issues for review. See Petition for Review (PFR). Streiff claims every single issue warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), as he alleges each is "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State or of the United States." A straightforward review of the Court of Appeals opinion, the record, the constitutional provisions implicated, and the relevant case law demonstrates none of these claimed issues warrant further review.

Streiff argues this Court should accept review of his sufficiency of evidence argument because the State obtaining a conviction with insufficient evidence warrants this Court's review on constitutional grounds. PFR 8. This is not a significant question of law under the Constitution warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Streiff again argues his prosecutorial misconduct claim, which the Court of Appeals rejected. PFR 13-16. Streiff's assertion to this Court appears to be that the Court of Appeals alleged failure to consider

⁴ The State is asserting its restructure of the issues is the proper way to consider Streiff's petition for review. Any issues the State may have failed to respond to should not be viewed as a concession to any claim Streiff raises in this petition.

his misconduct claim cumulatively is a significant question of law under the Constitution. PFR 15-16. The Court of Appeals disposal of Streiff's prosecutorial misconduct claim was appropriate, does not warrant review under any of the standards. RAP 13.4(b).⁵

Streiff asserts there was improper opinion and conclusion evidence that, again, warrants review as it is a significant question of law under the Constitution. PFR 16-18. As the Court of Appeals noted in its opinion, Streiff misidentified statements as opinions and even misunderstood key testimony, taking it out of context. *Streiff*, Slip Op. at 19-21; *see also* RP 227-78, 339-40, 345-47. Review is not warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Streiff argues the use of initials violates the numerous constitutional provisions. PFR 19 at n.6. Simply put, the use of initials and birth dates does not violate the public trial right, the open court's doctrine, or, in this case, diminish the burden of proof by judicial comment on the evidence. *Streiff*, Slip Op. at 25-28; U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3, 10, 21, and 22; art. IV, § 16.

⁵ Streiff's argument that the State failed to provide a motive for his actions, in particular calling the State out for not providing and adequate explanation for showing why someone who did not have prior criminal history or proclivity to molest children would do such a thing, is not well taken. If the State had sought to present any type of evidence (if it existed), and been successful, Streiff would be claiming the State convicted him based on improper propensity evidence.

There was no custodial interrogation. Streiff was merely interviewed by the deputy in Streiff's own home, under Streiff's terms. *Streiff,* Slip Op. at 14-18; RP 121-34. When Streiff requested the deputy leave, the deputy did so within one to two minutes. *Id.* This was an interview, not a coercive interrogation.

Finally, Streiff asserts a combined argument of ineffective assistance of counsel and cumulative error, asserting this warrants review under the constitutional provision found in RAP 13.4(b). This argument exemplifies Streiff's failure to winnow out his weaker arguments.

None of the above raised arguments warrant review under the provision "if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved." RAP 13.4(b)(3). This Court should deny review on all issues raised.

2. There Is No Conflict In The Court Of Appeals' Decision And Decisions Of This Court.

Streiff, in two of his issues presented, argues there are conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision and opinions of this Court. PFR 4-8, 18-19. This is not accurate. The Court of Appeals properly applied the precedent of this Court when it denied Streiff the relief he requested below. *Streiff*, Slip Op. at 11-14, 25-28.

Contrary to Streiff's assertion, the Court of Appeals' determination that the State presented sufficient evidence of the element of "sexual contact" for Count I was not in conflict with this Court's decision in State v. R.P., 122 Wn.2d 735, 862 P.2d 172 (1993); Streiff, Slip Op. at 4-8. As the Court of Appeals aptly noted, in this Court's opinion in *R.P.*, there was no analysis or explanation beyond stating "that there was insufficient evidence of sexual contact to sustain" the conviction of indecent liberties. R.P., 122 Wn.2d at 736; see also Streiff, Slip Op. at 12. This court provided a basic recitation of the facts: R.P. was a juvenile in junior high school who kissed and hugged a fellow classmate and left a hickey on her neck. R.P., 122 Wn.2d at 736. The court did not explain what aspect of the evidence of sexual contact was insufficient, whether it be for purposes of sexual gratification or intimate parts. Id. The Court of Appeals in Streiff's matter relied on other cases to guide its determination of whether the kissing of C.M.J. was sufficient to satisfy the element of sexual contact. Streiff, Slip Op. at 12-13.

Streiff asserts the dissenting opinion in *R.P.* and Court of Appeals opinion for *R.P.* do explain what was insufficient for evidentiary purposes, that it was whether kissing alone could be sexual contact. PFR 7. Streiff asserts the Court of Appeals

misapplied *R.P.* in his case because it did not properly understand this nuance. PFR 7-8. The plain language of this Court's opinion in *R.P.* is quite clear, "[a]fter examining the record and the facts of this case, we find that there was insufficient evidence of sexual contact to sustain count 1 (indecent liberties)." *R.P.*, 122 Wn.2d at 736. There is no conflict. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Streiff next argues the Court of Appeals misapplied a number of different cases from this Court when it determined Streiff's jury instruction arguments. PFR 18-20. Streiff spends little time on this argument, merely stating the Court of Appeals holding conflicts with this Court's decisions in *John Doe G.*, 190 Wn.2d 185 and *Allied Daily Newspapers*, 121 Wn.2d 205. PFR 19., In his statement, "the use of pseudonyms and birthdates was a comment on the evidence, diminished the State's burden of proof and constituted a sealing of the record," Streiff drops a footnote, citing to *Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d 736 PFR 18-19, n.6. Streiff then asserts the Court of Appeals erred when it found the use of dates of birth harmless. PFR 19. The lack of legal analysis or briefing should preclude review. *State v. Dennison*, 115 Wn.2d 609, 629, 801 P.2d 193 (1990). Further, the State maintains there is no conflict. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

E. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court not accept review on the issues Streiff raised in his petition for review.

If this Court were to accept review, the State would respectfully request an opportunity to submit supplemental briefing.